69938-3

69438.3 89799-9

No. 69438-3-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION ONE OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Aaron Bell,

Appellant,

v.

Department of Labor & Industries,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

James R. Walsh, WSBA #11997 Kevin D. Anderson, WSBA #42126 Attorneys for Appellant

Law Office of James R. Walsh 20201 Cedar Valley Road, Suite 140 Lynnwood, WA 98036 Phone: (425) 774-6883

Fax: (425) 778-9247

A. Assignment of Error

The superior court, in an administrative law review capacity, erred in entering Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Judgment on October 15, 2012 in favor of the Department.

B. Issue Pertaining to Assignment of Error

Whether the superior court erred in entering its' Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Judgment by way of order on October 15, 2012 when: in doing so failed to construe the Industrial Insurance Act (Act) in favor of the worker as set forth by case law; in doing so failed to give special consideration and weight to Mr. Bell's attending physician, Dr. Summe, as required by case law, when pondering the evidence in the record; in doing so failed to consider Mr. Bell's conditions and occupation exclusively, pursuant to case law, as opposed to considering the condition and occupation in general to the population at large; in doing so failed to deviate from the Board's Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and set forth its own unique reasoning and justification on de novo review for ruling against Mr. Bell; and in doing so failed to recognize that the preponderance of the evidence presented clearly indicates that Mr. Bell's occupation as a drywaller between 2006 and 2009 aggravated, accelerated, and hastened the progression of Mr. Bell's low back condition.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Factual Background

On July 21, 2009, Mr. Bell completed the form titled "Report of Industrial Injury or Occupational Disease," which was given claim number AK79707. *See* Clerk's Papers (CP) 197. Mr. Bell stated that his date of last occupational exposure and time of injury were "progressive" and that his "low back and leg pain has gotten worse from doing ... [his] job" over time. CP 122, 197.

Mr. Bell had returned to drywalling in August of 2006 and last worked as a drywaller on June 5, 2009 for Brent Smith Drywall in Woodinville, Washington. *See* CP 66, 197, 342. He had been in the drywall industry for over 24 years. CP 66, 116. The requirements of the job were very taxing on Mr. Bell's body. The work of a drywaller is very physical, in that he is constantly lifting weight upwards of 125 pounds, not to mention the 40 pound tool belt already around his waist. CP 66, 232, 280, 305. His job was far from stationary and, all while carrying this heavy weight, Mr. Bell's job as a drywaller required him to "frequently bend, kneel, stretch and twist." CP 66. This very physically demanding job took a toll on Mr. Bell's body and had caused him to have work related back injuries and related surgeries in the past. <u>Id</u>. When he returned to drywalling in 2006 he was lifting and bending more than he

had ever done in the past because he wanted to impress his employers as jobs were hard to come by. CP 125.

Between July 2006 and August 2006, and after being retrained, Mr. Bell tried his hand at a commission based job and even resorted to delivering pizza. CP 66, 120, 342. Unfortunately, this new line of work was not bringing in enough income to sustain his families basic economic needs. Id. Financially, his family was not surviving. Mr. Bell was forced to look to other means to provide for his family. Having been in the business for over 24 years and knowing that his earnings could support his family, Mr. Bell returned to work as a drywaller in August of 2006. Id.

B. Procedural Background

Mr. Bell filed an application for benefits with the Department of Labor & Industries (Department) on July 21, 2009 due to his occupation. CP 101, 197. On August 25, 2009, the Department issued an order rejecting Mr. Bell's claim for benefits. CP 70, 101. Mr. Bell filed a timely protest of the August 25, 2009 order with the Department on September 3, 2009. CP 101. In response, the Department issued an order on September 14, 2009 which affirmed the August 25, 2009 rejection order. CP 69, 101. Mr. Bell filed a timely appeal to the September 14, 2009 affirm order on September 22, 2009, which was granted for consideration by the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals (Board) on

October 21, 2009. CP 72-76. Following depositions and hearings at the Board, the Industrial Appeals Judge issued a Proposed Decision and Order (PD&O) on November 23, 2010 which affirmed the Department's rejection order of August 25, 2009. CP 61-68. Mr. Bell filed a timely Petition for Review (PFR) of the PD&O on January 4, 2011. CP 41-54. Mr. Bell's PFR was subsequently denied by the Board on January 18, 2011 which in turn made the PD&O a final decision and order of the Board. CP 37-40. In response, Mr. Bell filed a timely appeal to Snohomish County Superior Court¹. Trial briefs were submitted by both Mr. Bell as well as the Department on August 31, 2012. CP 11-33. The bench trial/oral argument was held at Snohomish County Superior Court on the morning of September 10, 2012². CP 7-10. On October 15, 2012, the superior court affirmed the Board's order of January 18, 2011 which ultimately affirmed the Department's rejection order of August 25, 2009. Id. Mr. Bell filed a timely Notice of Appeal to Court of Appeals on October 17, 2012. CP 1-2. Mr. Bell filed the Designation of Clerk's Papers by the required deadline and further notified the Court that no

¹ Mr. Bell's Notice of Appeal to Superior Court appears to be absent from the Clerk's Papers.

² The Superior Court's Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Judgment incorrectly states the bench trial/oral argument date as September 11, 2012. See CP 8:1-2.

Statement of Arrangements was filed as there was no transcription or recording of the relevant proceedings at the trial court level.

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The superior court erred when it entered the Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Judgment of October 15, 2012 which affirmed the Board's determination that Mr. Bell's lumbar spine/low back condition isn't an occupational disease per RCW § 51.08.140. The evidence on record before the Board preponderates in favor of Mr. Bell's claim and therefore the superior court must be reversed.

The preponderance of evidence, provided by the testimony of three medical witnesses one of which is his attending physician, along with the liberal construction of Title 51 in his favor, indicates that Mr. Bell's lumbar spine/low back condition became aggravated and accelerated due to his occupation as a drywaller between 2006 and 2009. Further, the superior court's Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Judgment are lacking and not in accordance with <u>Groff</u>.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Standard for Review.

A party may appeal as a matter of right any Superior Court order of "final judgment entered in any action or proceeding" *See* Wash. R. App. P. 2.2.

Judicial review of matters arising under the Act are governed by RCW 51.52.110 and RCW 51.52.115. *See* Wash. Rev. Code Ann. §§ 51.52.110, 51.52.115 (West 2012). Judicial review at the superior court level is *de novo* and is based solely on the evidence that was on the record before the Board. *See* id. § 51.52.115. In reviewing the matter at hand, this Court is tasked with the same standard of review as the superior court. Id.; Gary Merlino Const. Co., Inc. v. City of Seattle, 167 Wash. App. 609, 615, 273 P.3d 1049 (Div. I 2012) (*citing* Brighton v. Dep't of Transp., 109 Wash. App. 855, 861–62, 38 P.3d 344 (Div. I 2001). The judicial review of this matter is limited to the record of the Board. Id.

"The Board's decision is considered *prima facie* correct under RCW 51.52.115...." See § 51.52.115; see Gary Merlino Const. Co., Inc., 167 Wash. App. at 615 (citing Ruse v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 138 Wash.2d 1, 5, 977 P.2d 570 (1999)). When the superior court has affirmed the Board's decision, this Court reviews the Board record to verify whether substantial evidence is present to support the superior

court's findings and whether the superior court's conclusions of law flow from the findings. <u>Id.</u>; *see also* <u>Young v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.</u>, 81 Wash. App. 123, 128, 913 P.2d 402 (Div. III 1996).

To successfully reverse a Board decision, the challenging party must support their position with a preponderance of the evidence. *See* Gary Merlino Const. Co., Inc., 167 Wash. App. at 615 (*citing* Ruse, 138 Wash.2d at 5).

B. The Preponderance of the Evidence Clearly Indicates that Mr. Bell's Lumbar Spine/Low Back Condition Should be Considered an Occupational Disease as Defined by the Revised Code of Washington § 51.08.140 and Subsequent Case Law and Therefore Reversal of the Snohomish County Superior Court is Warranted.

The Snohomish County Superior Court failed to recognize, among other things, the preponderance of the evidence in the Board's record undeniably favored a finding for Mr. Bell. The medical evidence and facts of this case, in combination with the inferences required by law, make it plainly apparent that Mr. Bell's lumbar spine/low back condition is an occupational disease pursuant to RCW 51.08.140.

According to RCW 51.08.140, an occupational disease is defined as "such disease or infection as arises naturally and proximately out of employment...." See § 51.08.140. A worker who has suffered disability due to occupational disease shall receive benefits pursuant to the Act. See

§ 51.32.180. Title 51 covers all persons engaged in covered employment regardless of age or previous health condition, and, when determining the effect of working conditions on a worker, such effect must always be determined exclusively with reference to the particular worker involved and not some other individual or benchmark. Groff v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 65 Wash.2d 35, 43-44, 395 P.2d 633 (1964); Jacobson v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 37 Wash.2d 444, 448, 224 P.2d 338 (1950). The Courts of this State, to include the Washington State Supreme Court, have delved deeper into the definition contained in RCW 51.08.140 and have determined that an occupational disease is one that comes about as a matter of course as a natural consequence or incident of distinctive conditions of a worker's employment. See Dennis v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 109 Wash.2d 467, 481, 745 P.2d 1295 (1987); see Ruse, 138 Wash.2d at 1. The worker's condition does not need to be peculiar to, nor unique to, the worker's particular employment, but, instead, the focus is on whether the worker's employment was a cause from which the worker's condition arose. Id. (emphasis added).

The Washington State Supreme Court has determined that a worker is entitled to benefits under Title 51 for any condition or disability that the occupational exposure lit up, aggravated, accelerated, or in combination with the condition caused the disability or condition. Harbor

Plywood Corp. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 48 Wash.2d 553, 556, 295 P.2d 310 (1956) ("Preexisting disease or infirmity of the employee does not disqualify a claim under the 'arising out of employment' requirements if the employment aggravated, accelerated, or combined with the disease or infirmity to produce the death or disability for which compensation is sought."); Towne v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 51 Wash.2d 644, 647, 320 P.2d 1094 (1958) ("The test is not whether the injury occasioned by the workman's exertion in the course of his employment was the sole cause of his death, but whether it contributed in any material degree. Guiles v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 13 Wash.2d 605, 613, 126 P.2d 195 (1942)"); Ruse, 138 Wash.2d at 6-7; see Dennis, 109 Wash.2d at 467. If the occupational exposure complained of is a proximate cause of the condition for which benefits are sought, then the previous physical condition of the worker is immaterial, and recovery may be received for the resulting condition, independent of any pre existing or congenital weakness. Miller v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 200 Wash. 674, 94 P.2d 764 (1939); Jacobson, 37 Wash.2d at 448; Snyder v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 40 Wash. App. 566, 573-76, 699 P.2d 256 (Div. II 1985); see Wendt v. Dep't of Labor & <u>Indus.</u>, 18 Wash. App. 674, 571 P.2d 229 (Div. II 1977). In Ruse, the Court stated that "[i]n an aggravation case, the employment does not cause the disease, but it causes the disability because the employment conditions

accelerate the preexisting disease to result in the disability." Ruse, 138 Wash.2d at 7 (emphasis in original).

A case that is similar to Mr. Bell's situation yet distinguishable and instructive is the Washington State Supreme Court case of Ruse v. Dep't of Labor & Industries. See generally Ruse, 138 Wash.2d at 1. In Ruse, the claimant suffered from degenerative disc disease as well as arthritis but nevertheless worked for almost 30 years doing heavy labor in the cement industry. See id. at 3-4; Ruse v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 90 Wash. App. 448, 450-52, 966 P.2d 909 (Div. III 1998)³. Mr. Ruse filed an occupational disease claim with the Department in November 1990. Id. Mr. Ruse's claim was subsequently denied by the Department and eventually by the Board on Mr. Ruse's appeal. Id. The Board determined that Mr. Ruse's degenerative condition was related to the "natural progression of unrelated pre-existing conditions or disease processes." Id. (quoting Ruse Proposed Decision and Order at 8). The trial court affirmed the Board order and found in part that "Mr. Ruse suffered from a degenerative arthritis which would have appeared and progressed despite his employment." Id. (quoting Clerks Papers at 5-6). The Board and the trial court made their findings and conclusions based on the testimony of

³ Washington State Supreme Court instructed that the Court of Appeals decision regarding <u>Ruse</u> be used for a complete discussion of the facts, hence the citation to the Court of Appeals.

two medical doctors, Drs. Gilman and Shanks, who provided negative and inconsistent testimony at best. Id. The Department and Mr. Ruse could not agree, and argued, about which of these doctors should be considered Mr. Ruse's attending physician. Id. Dr. Gilman testified on behalf of the Department and Dr. Shanks testified on behalf of Mr. Ruse, and ultimately it was determined that Dr. Gilman would be considered the attending physician. Id. As fleshed out during his testimony, Dr. Gilman was Mr. Ruse's primary care doctor from mid 1981 to 1989, the diagnostic x-rays conducted in 1986 didn't show any problems in Mr. Ruse's low back, Dr. Gilman's diagnosis of Mr. Ruse's back pain was "muscoskeletal effects of his age" and there was not a medical condition present that would respond to treatment, and Dr. Gilman disagreed with Mr. Ruse's decision to stop working. Id. (quoting Dep. of David C. Gilman, D.O. at 8). Dr. Shanks, on the other hand, appeared to be an advocate for Mr. Ruse's claim with the Department. Id. Dr. Shanks only saw Mr. Ruse once and, based on this one examination, diagnosed Mr. Ruse with "moderate degenerative arthritis and degenerative disc disease in the lumbar spine most prominent in the L3-4 region." Ruse, 90 Wash. App. at 452. Dr. Shanks testified that Mr. Ruse's low back condition "was aggravated by his 'long term heavy labor work' on a 'more probable than not' basis." Ruse, 138 Wash.2d at 5 (quoting Dep. of William Shanks, M.D. at 21).

Unfortunately for Mr. Ruse, this testimony was a contradiction of Dr. Shanks' earlier opinion in which he stated in a letter to the Department that he didn't see Mr. Ruse's arthritis as an industrial or occupational disease. <u>Id</u>. During his deposition, Dr. Shanks stated that the letter he penned to the Department more accurately reflected his opinion of Mr. Ruse's situation. <u>Id</u>. After Mr. Ruse's appeal process ran its' course, the Washington State Supreme Court affirmed the rulings of the lower courts that Mr. Ruse did not suffer from an occupational disease due to an aggravation of a pre existing condition. <u>Id</u>.

Mr. Bell doesn't have the evidentiary problems and issues that Mr. Ruse had. In the matter at hand, the preponderance of the evidence clearly indicates that Mr. Bell suffered an occupational disease due to his work related aggravation and acceleration of his prior low back conditions. Three medical doctors testified in this matter; two on behalf of Mr. Bell and one at the request of the Department. *See generally* CP 209-393. Unlike Mr. Ruse, and most likely unintentional on the part of Dr. Stump, all three doctors who testified in Mr. Bell's case provided testimony that supports Mr. Bell's occupational disease claim due to his occupation as a drywaller causing an aggravation and acceleration of a pre existing condition. Id. The Department's medical witness, Dr. Stump, conducted only one examination of Mr. Bell on August 5, 2009. *See generally* CP

310-93. Dr. Stump was called to testify against Mr. Bell on August 4, 2010. Id. When called to testify in this matter, Dr. Stump stated that he "was concerned that [Mr. Bell] had had a recurrent disk herniation at the ... L5-S1 level on the right and that that was accounting for the findings that [he] observed on his examination." CP 322. Additionally, Dr. Stump testified that it was his opinion that Mr. Bell's genetics and prior back injuries contributed to his lumbar spine/low back condition. CP 323-24. Dr. Stump elaborated even further and stated that Mr. Bell's physical work played a significant role and accelerated and caused rapid progression of Mr. Bell's condition:

patients that have degenerative disease are more susceptible to have that disease progress depending on the type of physical activity they did. That activity can obviously be work or nonwork related. But this gentleman does have an occupation in which there's a significant amount of heavy type of bending, lifting-type activity, so one would believe that his work activities was a significant factor in the development of his degenerative disk disease.

CP 324 (emphasis added). Dr. Stump continued,

[s]o one could state that because of his genetic aspect, because of his prior injuries and the surgeries that have been carried out, by returning to the heavy-duty-type work, he was more likely to experience progression of his degenerative process and more likely to have problems in the future.

CP 369 (emphasis added). While Dr. Stump stated that he believed a degenerative condition such as the one Mr. Bell possessed would progress

naturally, he did not testify that Mr. Bell's lumbar spine/low back condition would have progressed to the level it did or at the pace it did absent Mr. Bell's occupation as a drywaller between 2006 and 2009. *See generally* CP 310-93.

Drs. Summe and Wright testified on behalf of Mr. Bell. See generally CP 209-309. Mr. Bell's attending physician, Dr. Summe, is an osteopathic physician who is board certified in family medicine and sports medicine, and has treated Mr. Bell for a significant period of time. CP 211-12, 217-18, 237, 254. Dr. Summe testified that there were significant differences in objective findings from when Mr. Bell went back to drywalling in August 2006 and July 2009, when Mr. Bell submitted his application for benefits due to an occupational disease following his three years back in the drywalling profession. See generally CP 209-69. Before returning to drywalling in August 2006, Mr. Bell's objective findings consisted of muscle spasm and he had a lifting restriction but was still able to work. See CP 298. At that point Mr. Bell had no other objective findings. Id. Following his three years of drywalling, in July 2009 Mr. Bell's objective findings as related to his low back consisted of decreased range of motion, moderate to severe muscle spasm, a positive straight leg raise test in regards to his right leg, and Dr. Summe observed that "he was [now] unable to stand on his toes or heels of right foot." See CP 238. Dr.

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