NO. 69438-3-1 

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I 
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON 

AARON BELL, 

Appellant, 

v. 

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR & INDUSTRIES FOR THE STATE OF 
WASHINGTON, 

Respondent. 

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT 

ROBERT W. FERGUSON 
Attorney General 

ERICA KOSCHER 
Assistant Attorney General 
WSBA No. 44281 
800 Fifth Ave., Suite 2000 
Seattle, W A 98 I 04 
(206) 464-7740

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

IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

Substantial evidence supports the superior court's finding that Mr. 

Bell's return to drywall work did not proximately cause an aggravation of 

his preexisting low back condition? Dr. Stump testified that Mr. Bell's 

low back condition was the result of the natural progression of his 

preexisting low back condition, proximately caused by a combination of 

his genetics, prior industrial injuries, and prior surgeries. CP 322. He 

explained that the lack of significant objective findings of worsening 

indicated that any worsening present was attributable to the expected, 

natural progression of the pre-existing degenerative disc disease, and not 

his return to work. CP 360, 362, 372. Further, both Mr. Bell's physicians 

3 In this appeal, Mr. Bell failed to assign error to specific [mdings of fact as 
required by RAP 1O.3(g). However, by reference to the associated discussion of issues it 
is presumed that Mr. Bell is not arguing that he sustained a new disease, but rather that 
there was an aggravation of his pre-existing low back disease. 
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failed to identify any new disability that resulted from Mr. Bell's return to 

work, as opposed to the disability that was already present and 

progressively worsening. See generally CP 209-309. 

Additionally, the superior court did not err by failing to find in Mr. 

Bell's favor as the rule of liberal construction applies to issues of statutory 

construction only; a worker still must prove entitlement to benefits by 

competent evidence. Mr. Bell's argument that the superior court failed to 

give special consideration and weight to the testimony of Mr. Bell's 

attending physician also fails as the rule of special consideration does not 

require a finding in favor of the attending physician's testimony. Finally, 

remand is not appropriate here as the superior court entered sufficient 

findings of fact to support its legal conclusions and to allow this Court to 

perform its review. CP 8-9. 

V. STANDARD OF REVIEW 

In a workers' compensation case, the superior court reVIews a 

decision of the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals de novo on the 

certified appeal board record. RCW 51.52.115; Elliot v. Dep't of Labor & 

Indus., 151 Wn. App. 442, 445, 213 P.3d 44 (2009). On review to the 

superior court, the Board's decision is prima facie correct and the burden 

of proof is on the party challenging the decision. McClelland v. ITT 

Rayonier, Inc., 65 Wn. App. 386, 390, 828 P.2d 1138 (1992). The 
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superior court may substitute its own findings and decision if it finds, from 

a fair preponderance of the evidence, that the Board's findings and 

decision are incorrect. McClelland, 65 Wn. App at 390. 

The Court of Appeals reviews the superior court's decision in a 

workers' compensation case under the ordinary standard of civil review. 

RCW 51.52.140 ("Appeal shall lie from the judgment of the superior court 

as in other civil cases."); see Rogers v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 151 Wn. 

App. 174, 179-81, 210 P.3d 355 (2009). This Court limits its review to 

'''examination of the record to see whether substantial evidence supports 

the findings made after the superior court's de novo review, and whether 

the court's conclusions of law flow from the findings. '" Ruse v. Dep't of 

Labor & Indus., 138 Wn.2d 1, 5, 977 P.2d 570 (1999) (quoting Young v. 

Dep't of Labor & Indus., 81 Wn. App. 123, 128,913 P.2d 402 (1996)).4 

"Substantial evidence exists if the record contains evidence of sufficient 

quantity to persuade a fair-minded, rational person of the truth of the 

declared premise." Bering v. Share, 106 Wn.2d 212, 220, 721 P.2d 918 

(1986). 

When undertaking substantial evidence review, the appellant court 

does not reweigh the evidence or re-balance the competing testimony 

4 Mr. Bell incorrectly asserts that "[i]n reviewing the matter at hand, the Court is 
tasked with the same standard of review as the superior court." App. Br. at 6. The 
superior court applies the preponderance of the evidence standard; the Court of Appeals 
applies the substantial evidence standard. Ruse, 138 Wn.2d at 5. 
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presented to the fact finder. Fox v. Dep't of Ret. Sys., 154 Wn. App. 517, 

527, 225 P.3d 1018 (2009); Harrison Mem'l Hasp. v. Gagnon, 110 Wn. 

App. 475, 485, 40 P. 3d 1221 (2002). Rather, the appellate court views 

the evidence and all reasonable inference from the evidence in the light 

most favorable to the prevailing party. Karst v. McMahon, 136 Wn. App. 

202, 206, 148 P .3d 1081 (2006); Gagnon, 110 Wn. App. at 485. "Where 

there is substantial evidence, we will not substitute our judgment for that 

of the trial court even though we might have resolved a factual dispute 

differently." Karst, 136 Wn. App. at 206. 

VI. ARGUMENT 

A. Substantial Evidence Supports The Superior Court's Finding 
That The Distinctive Conditions Of Mr. Bell's Drywall Work 
Between 2006 And 2009 Did Not Proximately Cause An 
Aggravation Of His Preexisting Low Back Condition 

Mr. Bell contends substantial evidence does not support the 

superior court's finding that the distinctive conditions of his drywall 

employment between 2006 and 2009 did not proximately cause an 

aggravation of his preexisting low back condition. App. Br. at 7-17. This 

argument fails. 

A worker who has an occupational disease is entitled to receive 

benefits under the Industrial Insurance Act. RCW 51.32.180. An 

occupational disease is a "disease or infection as arises naturally and 
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proximately out of employment." RCW 51.08.140. "A worker is entitled 

to benefits if the employment either causes a disabling disease or 

aggravates a preexisting disease so as to result in a new disability." Ruse, 

138 Wn.2d at 7. 

To show that a worker's medical condition arises naturally out of 

employment, he or she must establish that the occupational disease "came 

about as a matter of course as a natural consequence or incident of 

distinctive conditions" of her employment. Dennis v. Dep't of Labor & 

Indus., 109 Wn.2d 467, 481, 745 P.2d 1295 (1987). 

The causal connection between the work and the disability must be 

made through the use of medical evidence showing, more probably than 

not, "but for the aggravating condition of the job, the claimed disability 

would not have arisen." Ruse, 138 Wn.2d at 7; see also Dennis, 109 

Wn.2d at 477; Rambeau v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 24 Wn.2d 44,49-50, 

163 P .2d 133 (1945) (holding that testimony that "a condition might have, 

or could probably have, been brought about by a certain happening" is 

insufficient as a matter of law to present a case to a jury, since evidence 

merely establishing that something is possible, as opposed to probable, is, 

at best, "conjectural and speculative"). 

In an aggravation case, "the employment does not cause the 

disease, but it causes the disability because the employment conditions 

14 



accelerate the preexisting disease to result in the disability. In this sense, 

it is proper to speak of the disability being caused by the employment in 

an aggravation case." Ruse, 138 Wn.2d at 7. 

1. Dr. Stump Testified That Any Worsening Of Mr. Bell's 
Low Back Over The Period Of Time During Which He 
Returned To Drywall Work Was The Result Of The 
Natural Progression Of His Preexisting Disease, Rather 
Than From His Return To Work 

Substantial evidence supports the superior court's finding that the 

distinctive conditions of Mr. Bell's drywall work between 2006 and 2009 

did not proximately cause an aggravation of his preexisting low back 

condition. Dr. Stump testified that Mr. Bell's low back condition was 

proximately caused by a combination of his genetics, prior low back 

injuries, and prior low back surgeries, and not as a result of his return to 

work. CP 322,360,362,372. 

Dr. Stump grounded his OpInIOn on the fact that the objective 

medical data did not indicate that significant worsening of Mr. Bell's low 

back condition occurred over the time period during which Mr. Bell 

returned to work. CP 360, 362, 372. Dr. Stump explained the lack of 

significant worsening indicated to him the worsening was attributable to a 

natural progression of the preexisting disease, as opposed to Mr. Bell's 

return to work. CP 360, 362, 372. Dr. Stump specifically relied upon the 

objective medical data from a comparison of the 2004 and 2009 MRIs, 

15 



which indicated there had been little change in the degenerative process 

during that five-year period of time and that the changes were chronic in 

nature. CP 360, 362, 372. Dr. Stump also testified the EMG data did not 

suggest that there had been significant progression of the underlying 

degenerative process. CP 360, 362, 372. 

Although Dr. Stump testified that a return to heavy duty work, 

such as drywall work, could potentially aggravate a low back condition, he 

did not feel that this occurred in Mr. Bell's case. CP 360, 362, 372. Dr. 

Stump explained: 

patients that have the genetic background who perform 
those type of activities will tend to have the degenerative 
process progress more rapidly than if they wouldn't do 
those type of activities. However, one would have to say 
that although he reported carrying out those activities, 
comparing the MRls would suggest there had been little 
change in that degenerative process during that jive-year 
prior of time, I believe it was. 

CP 360 (emphasis added); see also CP 362. Mr. Bell's case is, thus, 

analogous to the factual scenario in Ruse, where courts found that the 

claimant's low back condition was proximately caused by the natural 

progression of the pre-existing disease, and not by the heavy duty work. 

Ruse, 138 Wn.2d at 7-8. 

Mr. Bell quotes two passages from Dr. Stump's testimony m 

support of his assertion that Dr. Stump testified that "Mr. Bell's physical 
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work played a significant role and accelerated and caused rapid 

progression of Mr. Bell's condition." App. Br. at 13. What Mr. Bell fails 

to mention is that Dr. Stump directly contradicted this proposition when 

asked on cross-examination whether he had testified that Mr. Bell's return 

to drywall work aggravated his low back condition. Dr. Stump responded: 

Actually, I didn't -- what I said was that there had not been 
objective change between the two MRIs that we talked 
about. .. the description of those two MRIs were very 
similar. So there had not been significant progression. 
There was a little bit. The facets were a bit more 
degenerated between that time period [2005 to 2009]. 
What I said, I believe, is that this was the type of activity 
that could have led to progression, but the imaging studies 
did not support that. 

CP 372 (emphasis added). 

Mr. Bell takes isolated quotes out of context. Reading Dr. Stump's 

quotes about what he would expect in a person that engaged in drywall 

work in context with Dr. Stump's further statements regarding what the 

medical findings actually indicated in Mr. Bell's case, it is plain that Dr. 

Stump's opinion was that the work activities on a more probable than not 

basis did not cause an aggravation of Mr. Bell's preexisting condition. 

Although a fact-finder certainly may have taken the quoted material into 

account, it is not the role of the appellate court to reweigh the evidence. 

See Fox, 154 Wn. App. at 527. 
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Dr. Stump's testimony thus provides substantial evidence to 

support the findings of the superior court and the Board that there was no 

work-related aggravation ofMr. Bell's low back condition. 

2. Both Physicians Testifying On Behalf Of Mr. Bell 
Failed To Identify Any New Disability That Resulted 
From The Return To Work As Opposed To The 
Natural Progression Of The Preexisting Disease 

Dr. Surnme's testimony supports the superior court's finding that 

Mr. Bell's drywall work did not aggravate his low back condition as he 

failed to identify any new disability that resulted from the return to work 

as opposed to the natural progression of the preexisting disease. See 

generally CP 209-269. Though ultimately opining Mr. Bell's return to 

drywall work aggravated his low back condition, Dr. Surnme also testified 

Mr. Bell's condition for which he treated under the 2002 injury claim in 

May and June 2009 looked "objectively the same" as the condition for 

which he filed an application for benefits for an occupational disease in 

July 2009. CP 259-60. Dr. Surnme further testified that the objective 

findings present in Mr. Bell's low back in September 2006, prior to the 

return to work, were "fairly close" to the objective findings present in May 

2009, indicating only a new finding of an inability to stand on his toes or 

his heel of his right foot and, possibly-though he could not confirm-an 

increase in the intensity of muscle spasm from moderate to moderate-
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severe. CP 250-51. Dr. Summe's testimony thus failed to identify the new 

disability that resulted from Mr. Bell's return to work, as required under 

Ruse. See Ruse, 138 Wn.2d at 7. 

Dr. Wright likewise failed to identify any new disability that was 

proximately caused by Mr. Bell's return to work. See generally CP 270-

309. Dr. Wright examined Mr. Bell for his low back in November 2009, a 

few months after he stopped drywall work, and performed surgery on his 

lumbar spine in January 2010. CP 278, 296. Dr. Wright testified that it 

was his understanding that the condition for which he examined and 

treated Mr. Bell during this time period was the low back condition under 

the 2002 industrial injury claim. CP 295. 

The failure of Mr. Bell ' s two medical witnesses to identify a new 

disability, as required by Ruse in an aggravation case, further supports the 

superior court 's finding that the distinctive conditions of Mr. Bell's 

drywall work did not proximately cause an aggravation of his preexisting 

low back condition. 

3. Mr. Bell Applies The Incorrect Standard Of Review To 
Argue That Substantial Evidence Does Not Support The 
Superior Court's Findings 

Mr. Bell argues that substantial evidence does not support the 

superior court's finding because "the preponderance of the evidence 

clearly indicates that Mr. Bell suffered an occupational disease due to his 
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work related aggravation and acceleration of his low back conditions." 

App. Br. at 12. This argument ignores the correct standard of review. Mr. 

Bell asks this Court to reweigh the evidence and to find that the evidence 

he presented in the form of Dr. Summe's and Dr. Wright's testimony was 

more convincing than the testimony of Dr. Stump, presented by the 

Department. At this stage, this Court cannot reweigh the evidence, re-

balance the testimony, or substitute its own judgment for that of the 

superior court. Fox, 154 Wn. App. at 527; Karst, 136 Wn. App. at 206; 

Gagnon, 110 Wn. App. at 485. The superior court rejected Mr. Bell's 

arguments that his witnesses' testimony was more credible than the 

testimony of the Department's witness. On appeal, substantial evidence 

supports the superior court's finding that Mr. Bell's drywall work between 

2006 and 2009 did not proximately cause an aggravation of his preexisting 

low back condition. 

B. The Superior Court Did Not Err By Failing To Find In Mr. 
Bell's Favor As The Industrial Insurance Act Requires A 
Worker To Prove Entitlement To Benefits And The Rule Of 
Liberal Construction Applies To Issues Of Statutory 
Construction Only 

Mr. Bell's argument that the superior court failed to construe the 

Industrial Insurance Act in his favor is without merit. App. Br. at 17-18. 

While courts should liberally construe the Industrial Insurance Act, "that 

rule does not apply to questions of fact but to matters concerning the 
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construction of the statute." Ehman v. Dep 't of Labor & Indus., 33 Wn.2d 

584, 595, 206 P.2d 787 (1949). Further, "the principle does not dispense 

with the requirement that those who claim benefits under the act must, by 

competent evidence, prove the facts upon which they rely." Ehman, 33 

Wn.2d at 595. Liberal construction applies only to ambiguous statutes. 

See Harris v. Dep 't of Labor & Indus., 120 Wn.2d 461 , 474, 843 P.2d 

1056 (1993). 

Mr. Bell fails to identify an ambiguous provision of the Industrial 

Insurance Act for which he seeks a liberal construction and, as such, it is 

presumed that Mr. Bell is arguing that the rule of liberal construction be 

applied to the questions of fact presented in this case. See App. Br. 17-8. 

His argument is thus without merit. 

C. The Rule Of Special Consideration Does Not Mean That The 
Superior Court Must Disregard The Testimony Of Other 
Medical Experts And Find In The Worker's Favor 

Mr. Bell argues the superior court failed to give special 

consideration and weight to the testimony of Mr. Bell's attending 

physician, Dr. Summe. App. Br. at 17. The Court should reject this 

argument. While special consideration in the form of careful thought 

should be given to an attending physician's testimony, there is no

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